ORIGINAL

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In The Court of Appeals

RECEIVED

DEC 10 2014

APPEAL FROM SPARTANBURG COUNTY  
Court of General Sessions  
The Honorable J. Derham Cole, Circuit Court Judge

SC Court of Appeals

Case No. 2011-GS-42-3015, 2011-GS-42-3016

The State, .....Respondent,

v.

Michael Anderson Manigan.....Appellant.

Appellate Case No. 2013-000253

APPELLANT MICHAEL ANDERSON MANIGAN'S FINAL BRIEF

Daniel S. "Chip" McQueeney, Jr.  
S.C. Bar No. 06802  
1134 Shadow Lake Circle  
Mount Pleasant, SC 29464

Robert M. Dudek  
Chief Appellate Defender  
South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense  
Division of Appellate Defense  
P.O. Box 11589  
Columbia, SC 29211

## STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES ON APPEAL

I. Did the trial judge err in denying Manigan's directed verdict motion where, as here, the State failed to submit any direct or substantial circumstantial evidence tending to prove Manigan's guilt beyond a reasonable doubt?

II. Did the trial judge err in charging the jury that "the hand of one is the hand of all" where, as here, the investigating officer conceded there was no evidence tying the alleged accomplice to the crimes?

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On June 17, 2011, Appellant Michael Anderson Manigan was indicted for first degree burglary and grand larceny. **R.pp.1-6**. In the indictments, the State alleges that, on December 11, 2010, Manigan entered the dwelling of Elizabeth Anne Vandahm with the intent to commit a crime therein and with two prior burglary convictions. **R.pp.1-6**. The State further alleges that Manigan carried away goods belonging to Vandahm, including a computer, printer, and jewelry, valued at more than two thousand dollars. **R.pp.1-6**.

In January 2013, the case was tried to a jury. **R. p.7**. After the State rested, Manigan moved for a directed verdict based on the lack of any direct or substantial circumstantial evidence tying Manigan to the crimes. **R. pp.149:1-154:17**. The trial judge denied the motion. **R. pp.154:19-155:5**. At the close of Manigan's case, Manigan renewed his directed verdict motion, and the trial judge again denied the motion. **R. pp.194:13-195:11**. Subsequently, the trial judge charged the jury that "the hand of one is the hand of all" over Manigan's objection. **R. pp.195:13-196:9; pp.228:20-229:18**.

On January 16, 2013, the jury returned a verdict against Manigan on both charges. **R. p.239:1-12**. On the same day, the trial judge sentenced Manigan to forty (40) years for first-degree burglary and ten (10) years for grand larceny. **R. pp.244:25-245:10**. On January 24, 2013, Manigan appealed his conviction and sentence. **R.p.247**.

## FACTS

In 2010, Elizabeth Vandahm resided at 224 Carlisle Street in Spartanburg, South Carolina. **R. pp.21:14-22:15.** At the time, Anna Christine Holcombe lived next door.<sup>1</sup> **R. p.26:2-5; p.91:8-20.** Michael Manigan lived across the street from Vandahm and Holcombe. **R. p.50:1-14.** Manigan's front porch is visible from Vandahm's back yard. **R. p.52:3-5.**

On Saturday, December 11, 2010, Vandahm left for work around 1:00pm. **R. pp.22:16-23:4, p.24:14-17.** Vandahm's father testified that he stopped by Vandahm's house between 5:15pm and 6:00pm, but did not notice anything unusual. **R. pp.79:17-80:23.** In the meantime, Holcombe began cutting her grass around 4:00pm and worked outside until around 9:30pm. **R. pp.93:14-94:25.** During this time, Holcombe noticed Manigan on his front porch. **R. pp.95:16-96:7.** Manigan spoke to Holcombe several times, discussing yard work and how much grass Holcombe was cutting. **R. p.96:6-8.** Manigan's cousin, Gary Manigan, also spoke to Holcombe. **R. p.96:16-24.** Holcombe testified that she considered Michael Manigan a neighbor and friend. **R. pp.96:25-97:3.**

When Vandham arrived home from work around 10:30pm, she entered through the front door, proceeding to the back door to let her dog out. **R. p.25:14-19.** As she approached the kitchen, she observed broken glass from her kitchen window and a piece of cement lying in the middle of her kitchen floor. **R. p.25:14-19.** The kitchen window was approximately 7 ½ feet from the ground outside her home. **R. pp.27:25-28:3.** She believed the cement came from a fence post in her back yard. **R. p.40:14-24.** In her bathroom, Vandahm noticed a brick and more broken glass. **R. p.27:12-16.** Vandahm's computer monitor, printer, and jewelry, including a pair of diamond earrings, were missing. **R. p.26:12-24.** Vandahm called the police and waited at

---

<sup>1</sup> Holcombe explained that, if she were standing on Carlisle Street, facing Vandahm's house, Holcombe's house would have been the next house to her left. **R. p.91:15-20.**

Holcombe's house until they arrived. **R. pp.25:20-26:5.**

Vandahm had a six-foot tall privacy fence enclosing her back yard. **R. p.28:17-20.** During a severe windstorm a few months prior to the break-in, a large oak tree had uprooted, tearing a gap in the privacy fence. **R. p.28:20-25.** The gap in the privacy fence was repaired with a four foot chicken wire fence. **R. pp.28:20-29:17.** Vandahm testified it would have been impossible to climb over the chicken wire fence. **R. p.29:15-17.**

After the police arrived, Vandahm noticed a trash bag lying in the area behind the chicken wire fence, which Vandahm testified was within her back yard. **R. p.36:8-22, p.37:6-13, pp.38:21-39:4.** The trash bag contained Vandahm's computer monitor, printer, and keyboard. **R. p.36:8-22; State's Exs. 14-17.** The area where the trash bag was located contained vines, dead trees, tree stumps, and trash. **R. p.52:1-16.** Vandahm believed someone had used the area to dump trash and other stuff some time ago. **R. p.52:10-16.** Holcombe explained that the area contained "a lot of trash and so forth . . . nobody really lived in that area so it was, um, thorns and trash, limbs and oak trees, that's basically all that it is." **R. p.92:18-22.**

Charles Hair, a police officer with the City of Spartanburg Police Department, responded to Vandahm's call. **R. pp.102:24-103:13.** Hair determined that the point of entry was Vandahm's kitchen window. **R. p.105:19-21.** After Vandahm noticed the black trash bag in the area behind the chicken wire fence, Hair retrieved the bag and dusted the monitor and printer for fingerprints. **R. p.112:3-16; State's Exs. 19A-19D.** He discovered four prints on the monitor and printer. **R. p.113:1-114:2.** Of relevance here, the first print was lifted from the backside of the computer monitor, and the fourth print was lifted from the front side of the printer. **R. pp.113:1-114:2.** It was eventually determined that these two prints belonged to Manigan. **R. pp.124:24-125:3, pp.127:6-130:21, p.137:5-18; pp.131:10-133:19; Exs. 19A, 19D, 20, 21, 22, 23.**

Following the police investigation that night, several neighbors came to help Vandahm board up the windows at her home. **R. p.49:18-22.** Manigan was one of the neighbors who visited. **R. p.50:1-14.** Later that night, Manigan returned to Vandahm's home and expressed that he believed the break-in was a shame. **R. p.53:12-25.**

On Monday, December 13, 2010, Gary Manigan received a loan from E-Z Money Pawn Shop in Spartanburg, secured by Vandahm's diamond earrings. **R. pp.156:1-157:13.** Although the investigating officer initially obtained warrants against Gary Manigan for burglary and grand larceny, the warrants were never served, and the investigating officer testified there was no evidence linking Gary Manigan to the break-in at Vandahm's residence. **R. pp.164:16-165:19.**

Manigan testified at trial that he often walks behind Vandahm's privacy fence to visit friends on Oakdale Court. **R. p.173:17-23, p.175:7-13.** On the night of the break-in, Manigan testified that he came across a black bag in this area while he was returning to his home around 9:00pm. **R. pp.176:20-177:25; p.183:1-11.** Manigan explained that he initially kicked the bag to see what was in it, since he had not seen it when he left, and that he looked in the bag after he heard a clanking sound. **R. pp.183:1-184:11.**

As previously discussed, Manigan was indicted for first-degree burglary and grand larceny arising from the break-in at Vandahm's home. **R.pp.1-6.** After a jury trial, he was convicted on both counts and sentenced to forty years for first-degree burglary and ten years for grand larceny. **R. p.239:1-12, pp.244:25-245:10.** This appeal follows.

#### **STANDARD OF REVIEW**

"In criminal cases, the appellate court sits to review errors of law only." State v. Dawson, 402 S.C. 160, 163, 740 S.E.2d 501, 502 (2013). The appellate court is bound by the factual findings of the trial court unless they are clearly erroneous. See State v. Patterson, 367 S.C. 219,

224, 625 S.E.2d 239, 241 (Ct. App. 2006).

## ARGUMENT

**I. The trial judge erred in denying Manigan’s directed verdict motion where, as here, the State failed to submit any direct or substantial circumstantial evidence tending to prove beyond reasonable doubt that Manigan committed first-degree burglary or grand larceny.**

The trial judge erred in failing to grant a directed verdict to Manigan based on a lack of direct or substantial circumstantial evidence reasonably tending to prove Manigan’s guilt beyond a reasonable doubt. Consequently, Manigan’s convictions should be reversed.

On appeal from the denial of a directed verdict, an appellate court must view the evidence in the light most favorable to the State. State v. Odems, 395 S.C. 582, 586, 720 S.E.2d 48, 50 (2011). “The defendant is entitled to a directed verdict when the State fails to produce evidence of the offense charged.” Id. “However, if there is any direct or *substantial* circumstantial evidence reasonably tending to prove the guilt of the accused, an appellate court must find the case was properly submitted to the jury.” Id. (emphasis in original). “A circuit judge should grant a directed verdict motion when the evidence merely raises a suspicion the accused is guilty.” Id.

“This Court has repeatedly affirmed the principle that when the State fails to produce substantial circumstantial evidence that the defendant committed a particular crime, the defendant is entitled to a directed verdict.” Id. “The State has the burden of proving beyond a reasonable doubt the identity of the defendant as the person who committed the charged crime or crimes.” State v. Lane, 406 S.C. 118, \_\_\_, 749 S.E.2d 165, 167 (Ct. App. 2013), reh’g denied (Nov. 22, 2013).

In the present case, the State relied solely on circumstantial evidence, namely: (1) Manigan’s prints on Vandahm’s computer monitor and printer within a black bag found in an area containing trash and other stuff on the other side of Vandahm’s fence; (2) Manigan’s

interactions with Holcombe prior to the burglary; and (3) Manigan's interactions with Vandahm after the burglary.

A long line of South Carolina appellate decisions involving similar circumstances strongly support the reversal of Manigan's convictions in the present case. For instance, in State v. Gilliam, 245 S.C. 311, 313, 140 S.E.2d 480, 481 (1965), the defendant was convicted of housebreaking with intent to steal and grand larceny. "[T]he circumstances relied upon by the State to establish the commission of the crimes charged in the indictment were: The broken pane of glass, the unlocked position of the window latch, the absence of the stamps from an employee's desk, and the defendant's fingerprint found on a fragment of glass outside the building." Id. at 315, 140 S.E.2d at 481.

The Court reversed the convictions, concluding: "The unexplained presence of defendant's fingerprint on a fragment of the broken pane outside the building might inculcate him if the evidence established that the building was feloniously entered and by this means, which, as has been seen, it fails to do." Id. at 315, 140 S.E.2d at 482. The Court further recognized: "We are convinced that the circumstances relied upon by the State, considered together, did not furnish such substantial evidence of the guilt of the defendant as to justify submission of the case to the jury." Id. at 315, 140 S.E.2d at 482.

In State v. Woods, 273 S.C. 266, 266-67, 255 S.E.2d 680, 681 (1979), defendants were also convicted of housebreaking and larceny. The State presented evidence that, on the day Roger Crowe's residence had been broken into, "appellants parked their car along a nearby road, climbed a fence, and entered the woods in the direction of the Crowe residence." Id. at 267, 255 S.E.2d at 681. "Appellants walked along the street in front of the Crowe residence." Id. "Thereafter, appellants returned to their parked car, through the woods they had originally

entered, and drove away from the area.” Id. “Around 6:00 p.m. that evening the majority of the stolen property was located in a clump of undergrowth near the route used by appellants when returning to their parked car.” Id.

The Court reversed appellants’ convictions, explaining: “In the instant case there is evidence sufficient to raise a strong suspicion of appellants’ guilt.” Id. “However, we are not convinced that there is any substantial evidence which reasonably tends to prove their guilt or from which their guilt may be fairly and logically deduced.” Id. “Suspicion, however strong, does not suffice to sustain a conviction.” Id.

In State v. Mitchell, 341 S.C. 406, 408, 535 S.E.2d 126, 127 (2000), the defendant was convicted of first-degree burglary relating to a purported break-in at the residence of Hugh Mathis. Mathis discovered pieces of glass in a spare bedroom at his home, noticed a hole in the glass window, and further noticed that the window was unlocked. Id. He subsequently discovered that two guns were missing. Id. “There was no glass on the exterior of the house, but there was a screen that the officer was able to get an identifiable fingerprint.” Id. “The fingerprint matched that of the defendant.” Id.

The Court of Appeals reversed defendant’s convictions based on a lack of substantial circumstantial evidence, and the Supreme Court affirmed upon certiorari review, recognizing: “The evidence in this case is entirely circumstantial.” Id. at 409, 535 S.E.2d at 127. “The only evidence linking respondent to the burglary is the fingerprint.” Id. “The State did not present any evidence whether the screen was on the window at the time the window was broken or when the screen had been removed.” Id. “The fact that respondent’s fingerprint was on a screen that was propped up against the house does not prove entry where respondent had been in and around the victim’s house as least three times prior to the burglary.” Id.

More recently, this Court overturned a first-degree burglary conviction under circumstances substantially similar to the present case in State v. Lane, 406 S.C. 118, 749 S.E.2d 165 (Ct. App. 2013), reh'g denied (Nov. 22, 2013). In Lane, “[t]he State presented the following evidence to establish Lane committed first-degree burglary: (1) the testimony of [the victim’s] neighbor that a burgundy/red ‘Mitsubishi Gallant-type car’ with a paper tag and primer painted panel was in [the victim’s] driveway the day of the theft; (2) testimony that, at times, Lane drove a red/burgundy Mitsubishi Gallant belonging to his girlfriend that matched the description given by [the victim’s] neighbor; (3) testimony that Lane drove the Gallant the day of the theft; (4) testimony that a folded piece of paper belonging to Lane was found in [the victim’s] driveway that was not originally found by the police but found later outside; and (5) testimony that Lane did not want to talk to police officers the day after the theft and asked his girlfriend’s mother to lie to officers concerning his whereabouts.” Id.

This Court concluded: “Viewing the foregoing evidence in the light most favorable to the State, we find the State did not present substantial circumstantial evidence to reasonably prove Lane was the person who committed the burglary.” Id. “At most, the evidence the State presented raises only a mere suspicion that Lane committed the crime.” Id.

In South Carolina, it is well established that fingerprint evidence, even fingerprint evidence near the point of entry of the scene of a crime, is insufficient to establish the guilt of an accused beyond a reasonable doubt. See Gilliam, 245 S.C. at 315, 140 S.E.2d at 482 (fingerprints on broken glass at point of entry not enough); Mitchell, 341 S.C. at 409, 535 S.E.2d at 127 (fingerprint on window screen outside point of entry insufficient to support conviction); State v. Arnold, 361 S.C. 386, 390, 605 S.E.2d 529, 531 (2004) (“[R]espondent’s fingerprint on the coffee cup lid tab establishes he was in the borrowed BMW on the same day the victim was last

seen alive. The fact that the BMW was found abandoned in Tennessee, the same state where respondent was located after his stay in Savannah, raises a suspicion of guilt but is not evidence that respondent killed Dr. Cox.”). Here, there is even stronger support for a directed verdict, as the only fingerprint evidence was located on items within a black trash bag behind a chicken wire fence well away from the point of entry.

Likewise, evidence of a defendant’s mere presence in the general area where a crime has been committed is insufficient to support a conviction on substantial circumstantial evidence. For instance, in State v. Walker, 349 S.C. 49, 54, 562 S.E.2d 313, 315 (2002), the State relied on a videotape of the defendant harvesting marijuana on a third party’s property to support a conviction for cultivating or attempting to cultivate marijuana on the land of another. The Court reversed the denial of a directed verdict motion, recognizing: “[A]part from his presence in the area, there is no evidence connecting Petitioner with the cultivation of the marijuana.” Id.; see also State v. Johnson, 291 S.C. 127, 129, 352 S.E.2d 480, 482 (1987) (“Mere presence at the scene of a crime is insufficient to convict one as a principal on the theory of aiding and abetting.”).<sup>2</sup>

Finally, Manigan’s proximity to the property taken from Vandahm after the crime is also insufficient to support Manigan’s conviction. For instance, in Odems, 395 S.C. at 588, 720 S.E.2d at 51, the Court recognized: “The State’s case against Petitioner relied primarily on three pieces of circumstantial evidence: (1) the fact that less than ninety minutes after the burglary, police located Petitioner in the getaway car with the burglars and the stolen goods; (2) Petitioner

---

<sup>2</sup> Here, there is no evidence placing Manigan at the scene of the crime. Holcombe testified she observed Manigan on his front porch across the street and spoke to Manigan several times on the day of the burglary, but never testified that she observed Manigan on or around Vandahm’s property. Manigan’s fingerprints were found in a black trash bag on the other side of Vandahm’s chicken wire fence, which Vandahm testified was impossible to climb.

fled from law enforcement; and (3) Petitioner asked an uninvolved person to lie for him.”

The Court reversed the petitioner’s conviction, explaining: “The State’s key circumstantial evidence: (1) Petitioner’s location in the getaway car a relatively short time after the robbery; (2) Petitioner’s flight from law enforcement; and (3) Petitioner’s attempt to enlist the assistance of an uninvolved individual, do not point to his guilt for the crimes charged to the exclusion of every other reasonable hypothesis—namely, the notion that he did in fact join [one of the burglars] at a gas station following the crime.” *Id.* at 590-91, 720 S.E.2d at 52-53.

In short, the State’s evidence of Manigan’s guilty is entirely circumstantial. At most, it raises merely a suspicion of Manigan’s guilt. It does not rise to the level of substantial circumstantial evidence. Consequently, Manigan’s convictions should be reversed.

**II. The trial judge erred in charging the jury that “the hand of one is the hand of all” where, as here, the investigating officer conceded there was no evidence tying the alleged accomplice to the crimes.**

The trial judge erred in charging the jury that “the hand of one is the hand of all” where, as here, the investigating officer conceded that there was no evidence tying the alleged accomplice—Gary Manigan—to the crimes. This error also warrants reversal.

“The evidence presented at trial determines the charged jury instruction.” *State v. Blurton*, 352 S.C. 203, 207, 573 S.E.2d 802, 804 (2002). “The purpose of instructions is to enlighten the jury and to aid it in arriving at a correct verdict.” *State v. Leonard*, 292 S.C. 133, 137, 355 S.E.2d 270, 273 (1987). “It is error to give instructions which are calculated to confuse or mislead the jury.” *Id.* “If a jury instruction is provided to the jury that does not fit the facts of the case, it may confuse the jury.” *Blurton*, 352 S.C. at 208, 573 S.E.2d at 804. “Only law applicable to the case should be charged to the jury.” *Id.* “Instructions that do not fit the facts of the case may serve only to confuse the jury.” *Id.*

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