STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

Appeal from Spartanburg County
Honorable J. Derham Cole, Circuit Court Judge
Appellate Case No. 2013-000253

THE STATE,

Respondent,

vs.

MICHAEL ANDERSON MANIGAN,

Appellant.

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

JULIE KATE KEENEY
Assistant Attorney General

MARY W. LEDDON
Assistant Attorney General

Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, SC 29211
(803) 734-3727

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

RECEIVED
DEC 08 2014
SC Court of Appeals

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

ARGUMENT

I.

The trial judge properly denied Appellant's motion for a directed verdict because the State presented substantial circumstantial evidence from which the jury could fairly and logically find Appellant guilty of first-degree burglary and grand larceny.

Appellant was indicted for was first-degree burglary¹ and grand larceny.² On appeal, Appellant only claims that the State failed to prove that Appellant was the one that committed the crimes. Appellant does not claim that the State failed to prove any of the actual elements of the crimes. However, the State presented direct and substantial circumstantial evidence of Appellant's guilt, which included the following: 1) Victim's home was broken into; 2) Victim's computer monitor, printer, beer, and jewelry were stolen; 3) Appellant and Nephew watched Victim's neighbor, Holcombe, do yard work for a long period of time; 4) Appellant and Nephew kept asking Holcombe when she would be finished doing her yard work; 5) on the night of the burglary, the police found a fingerprint on Victim's stolen printer, which was found in Victim's backyard; 6) the fingerprint matched Appellant's fingerprint; 7) on the night of the burglary, the police found a palm print on Victim's stolen computer monitor, which was found in Victim's backyard; 8) the palm print matched Appellant's palm print; 9) the stolen printer and monitor were found in a black trash bag that came from inside Victim's home; 10) prior

¹ A person is guilty of burglary in the first degree if the person enters a dwelling without consent and with intent to commit a crime in the dwelling, and . . . (2) the burglary is committed by a person with a prior record of two or more convictions for burglary. . . . S.C. Code Ann. § 16-11-311 (A)(2).

² Larceny is the felonious taking and carrying away of the goods of another against the owner's will or without the owner's consent. *State v. Condrey*, 349 S.C. 184, 191, 562 S.E.2d 320, 323 (Ct. App. 2002). If the value of the goods unlawfully taken and carried away during a theft exceeds \$2,000, the theft constitutes the felony offense of grand larceny. See S.C. Code Ann. § 16-13-30 ("Larceny of goods, chattels, instruments, or other personalty valued in excess of two thousand dollars is grand larceny.").

to the burglary, Appellant had never been inside Victim's home; therefore, there was no reason for his fingerprint and palm print to be on her computer monitor or printer; 11) there was no reason for Appellant to be in her backyard; 12) around 2 a.m. on the night of the burglary, Appellant knocked on Victim's door, asked her for a beer, told her it was shame what happened to her house, and told her that he "watches [her] and that he watches [her] house"; 13) Nephew sold Victim's diamond earrings to a pawn shop two days after the burglary; and 14) Appellant had two prior burglary convictions.

Standard of Review

In criminal cases, the appellate court sits to review errors of law only. State v. Wilson, 345 S.C. 1, 5, 545 S.E.2d 827, 829 (2001). On appeal from the denial of a directed verdict, the appellate court must view the evidence and all reasonable inferences in the light most favorable to the State. State v. Weston, 367 S.C. 279, 292, 625 S.E.2d 641, 648 (2006). If there is any direct evidence or any substantial circumstantial evidence reasonably tending to prove the guilt of the accused, the appellate court must affirm the trial judge's ruling. State v. Cherry, 361 S.C. 588, 593-594, 606 S.E.2d 475, 478 (2004). When an appellate court is reviewing the denial of a directed verdict motion in a case solely involving circumstantial evidence, this Court has instructed:

When the state relies exclusively on circumstantial evidence and a motion for a directed verdict is made, the circuit court is concerned with the existence or nonexistence of evidence, not with its weight. The circuit court should not refuse to grant the directed verdict motion when the evidence merely raises a suspicion that the accused is guilty. "Suspicion" implies a belief or opinion as to guilt based upon facts or circumstances which do not amount to proof. However, **a trial judge is not required to find that the evidence infers guilt to the exclusion of any other reasonable hypothesis.**

Id. at 594, 606 S.E.2d at 478 (citations omitted) (emphasis in original).

Accordingly, an analysis of the trial judge's ruling hinges on whether all of the circumstantial evidence taken together was sufficient for the jury to reasonably infer the defendant's guilt for the crimes beyond a reasonable doubt. *Id.* at 595, 606 S.E.2d at 478. Critically, the appellate court may only reverse the trial judge's denial of a directed verdict motion if there is no evidence supporting the trial judge's ruling. *State v. Gaster*, 349 S.C. 545, 555, 564 S.E.2d 87, 92 (2002). “[U]nless there is a total failure of evidence tending to establish the charge laid in the indictment, the trial judge's ruling upon a motion for a directed verdict must stand absent an error of law.” *State v. Nix*, 288 S.C. 492, 496, 343 S.E.2d 627, 629 (Ct. App. 1986) (emphasis added).

Analysis

In burglary and larceny cases, proof that the defendant was in recent possession of stolen property supports an inference that the defendant was the person who stole the property and creates a question of fact for the jury to resolve. See *State v. Lyles*, 211 S.C. 334, 339, 45 S.E.2d 181, 183 (1947); *State v. Cooper*, 279 S.C. 301, 302, 306 S.E.2d 598, 599 (1983) (instructing that the inference to be drawn from recent possession of stolen property is an evidentiary fact as opposed to a rebuttable presumption and constitutes circumstantial evidence of guilt); *State v. Campbell*, 131 S.C. 357, ___, 127 S.E. 439, 440-41 (1925) (holding that the trial judge properly submitted the charges for housebreaking and grand larceny to the jury where the State presented evidence that the defendant was in possession of the stolen property and noting that in burglary and larceny cases, recent possession of stolen property is an evidentiary fact that the jury can use to find guilt); *McNamara v. Henkel*, 226 U.S. 520, 525 (1913) (“Possession of [recently stolen property] in these circumstances tended to show guilty participation in the burglary. This is but to accord the evidence, if unexplained, its natural probative force.”).

In State v. Mitchell, our Supreme Court held that the defendant was entitled to a directed verdict for the burglary in the first degree charge. State v. Mitchell, 341 S.C. 406, 409, 535 S.E.2d 126, 127 (2000). When the victim arrived at his home, he noticed that his beer was missing from his refrigerator. Id. at 408, 535 S.E.2d at 127. Six days later, the victim went into his spare room and noticed glass on the floor. Id. When the victim pushed the blinds back, he noticed a hole in the glass of his window, and the window was unlocked. Id. According to the victim, the defendant had been inside victim's home on a couple of occasions. Id. The defendant helped unload some furniture into victim's home. Id. In addition, the defendant attended a social gathering at victim's home. Id. When the officer inspected the victim's home, he noticed that there was no glass on the exterior of the house, but there was a fingerprint on the screen. Id. The fingerprint matched the defendant's fingerprint. Id.

In finding that the defendant was entitled to a directed verdict for the burglary charge, our Supreme Court noted that the State failed to present any evidence on whether "the screen was on the window at the time the window was broken or when the screen had been removed." Id. at 409, 535 S.E.2d at 127. Further, "the fact that [the defendant's] fingerprint was on a screen that was propped up against the house does not prove entry **where [defendant] had been in and around the victim's house at least three time prior to the burglary.**" Id. (emphasis added).

In State v. Gilliam, our Supreme Court held that the defendant was entitled to a directed verdict for the housebreaking charge and grand larceny charge. State v. Gilliam, 245 S.C. 311, 315, 140 S.E.2d 480, 482 (1965). In reaching its conclusion, the Court noted:

The evidence casts no light on whether the pane of glass was broken and the window unlatched from the outside in the nighttime or from the inside during business hours. The custodian of the stamps did not testify and no foundation was laid by evidence for an inference of theft from the fact that they were 'missing' from his desk. The unexplained presence of defendant's fingerprint on a fragment of the broken pane outside the building **might inculpate him** if the evidence established that the building was feloniously entered and by this means, which, as has been seen, it fails to do.

Id., 245 S.C. at 315, 140 S.E.2d at 482 (emphasis added).

In this case, the trial judge properly denied Appellant's directed verdict motion because substantial evidence was presented establishing Appellant's guilt for each element of burglary in the first degree and grand larceny. Specifically, the following evidence was presented: 1) Victim's home was broken into; 2) Victim's computer monitor, printer, beer, and jewelry were stolen; 3) Appellant and Nephew watched Victim's neighbor, Holcombe, do yard work for a long period of time; 4) Appellant and Nephew kept asking Holcombe when she would be finished doing her yard work; 5) on the night of the burglary, the police found a fingerprint on Victim's stolen printer, which was found in Victim's backyard; 6) the fingerprint matched Appellant's fingerprint; 7) on the night of the burglary, the police found a palm print on Victim's stolen computer monitor, which was found in Victim's backyard; 8) the palm print matched Appellant's palm print; 9) the stolen printer and monitor were found in a black trash bag that came from inside Victim's home; 10) prior to the burglary, Appellant had never been inside Victim's home; therefore, there was no reason for his fingerprint and palm print to be on her computer monitor or printer; 11) there was no reason for Appellant to be in her backyard; 12) around 2 a.m. on the night of the burglary, Appellant knocked on Victim's

door, asked her for a beer, told her it was shame what happened to her house, and told her that he “watches [her] and that he watches [her] house”; 13) Nephew sold Victim’s diamond earrings to a pawn shop two days after the burglary; and 14) Appellant had two prior burglary convictions.

Further, this case is distinguishable from Mitchell. Unlike the defendant in Mitchell, Appellant had never been into Victim’s home prior to the burglary. Further, the fingerprint found in Mitchell was on a screen that was propped up against the exterior of the house. Mitchell, 341 S.C. at 408, 535 S.E.2d at 127. Here, Appellant’s fingerprint was found on the stolen goods that came from inside the Victim’s home. Moreover, the police found the fingerprint on the stolen goods on the same night of the burglary. Thus, the State presented evidence that Appellant was in recent possession of the stolen property. See Campbell, 131 S.C. at 357, 127 S.E. at 440-41 (noting that in burglary and larceny cases, recent possession of stolen property is an evidentiary fact that the jury can use to find guilt); State v. Miller, 287 S.C. 280, 284, 337 S.E.2d 883, 886 (1985) (finding Miller’s recent possession of stolen property was “competent circumstantial evidence of larceny” and further finding the fact that Miller sold the stolen property for a fraction of its actual value supported the jury’s guilty verdict).

In summary, the State presented substantial circumstantial evidence of Appellant’s guilt. Accordingly, Appellant’s convictions and sentences should be affirmed.

II.

The trial judge properly gave the jury an instruction regarding “the hand of one is the hand of all” where there was evidence supporting that Appellant and a co-participant acted together to burglarize the victim’s home and steal from her.

The trial judge did not err in giving the “hand of one is the hand of all” charge because there was evidence in the record supporting the charge.

Analysis

The law to be charged is determined by the evidence presented at trial. State v. Holland, 385 S.C. 159, 165, 682 S.E.2d 898, 901 (Ct. App. 2009). The trial judge is required to charge only the current and correct law of South Carolina. State v. Buckner, 341 S.C. 241, 246, 534 S.E.2d 15, 18 (Ct. App. 2000). “Jury instructions must be considered as a whole and, if as a whole, they are free from error, any isolated portions which might be misleading do not constitute reversible error.” State v. Jackson, 297 S.C. 523, 526, 377 S.E.2d 570, 572 (1989).

Under “the hand of one is the hand of all” theory, one who joins with another to accomplish an illegal purpose is criminally liable for everything done by his accomplice incidental to the execution of the common plan. State v. Langley, 334 S.C. 643, 648, 515 S.E.2d 98, 101 (1999). “A formally expressed agreement is not necessary to establish the conspiracy. It may be shown by circumstantial evidence and the conduct of the parties.” Condrey, 349 S.C. at 194, 562 S.E.2d at 325.

In this case, the State presented evidence that Appellant and Nephew were in close proximity of Victim’s home prior to the burglary. Both Appellant and Nephew kept bothering Victim’s neighbor, Holcombe, regarding when Holcombe was going to be finished with her yard work. Appellant and Nephew’s behavior supports the inference that they were casing Victim’s home prior to the burglary.

Further, the State presented evidence that two of Victim's windows were broken, and the objects used to break the windows were found inside the Victim's home. Additionally, someone attempted to pry Victim's backdoor. The fact that there were multiple windows broken and someone tried to pry the backdoor supports an inference that there was more than one person involved in the burglary. Moreover, the police found Appellant's fingerprint and palm print on Victim's stolen property, which according to Victim, he had no right to touch considering he had never been inside her home prior to the burglary.

Finally, the fact Nephew sold Victim's stolen earrings supports an inference that Nephew was also involved in the burglary. Appellant's fingerprint and palm print on the stolen goods was circumstantial evidence that he was also involved in the burglary. See State v. Gibson, 390 S.C. 347, 354, 701 S.E.2d 766, 770 (Ct. App. 2010) (the State need not show a "formal expressed agreement" to prove that parties agreed and combined to achieve an illegal purpose, but may prove the agreement "by circumstantial evidence and the conduct of the parties"). Based upon their recent possession of stolen goods, the jury was entitled to infer that both men stole the goods. See, e.g., Cooper, 279 S.C. at 302, 306 S.E.2d at 599 (when one is found in possession of recently stolen property, the jury may infer circumstantially that he broke in and stole the property); see also State v. Irvin, 270 S.C. 539, 542-43, 243 S.E.2d 195, 196-97 (1978) (the trial judge properly denied a directed verdict as to both defendants where the State established the occurrence of a housebreaking and larceny and relied upon the defendants' possession of recently stolen items and the permissible inference that the defendants were the thieves). Thus, if the jury concluded that both men stole the goods, they could reasonably infer that the men stole those goods pursuant to a common plan.

The jurors were entitled to an instruction on “the hand of one is the hand of all” so that it would be clear that, even if the State could not definitively prove which one of the two men physically entered the victim’s home and removed his property, Appellant was still guilty if they concluded that he and Nephew acted pursuant to, and carried out, a common plan to burglarize and rob the victim. See Barber v. State, 393 S.C. 232, 712 S.E.2d 436 (2011) (holding that a charge on the hand of one is the hand of all is appropriate where the evidence is equivocal as to which of several persons acting in concert physically committed the crime). Therefore, since there was evidence in the record from which the jury could infer that Appellant and Nephew acted together to burglarize Victim’s home and steal from her, the trial judge did not err in providing the jury with an instruction on “the hand of one is the hand of all.” See State v. Burriss, 334 S.C. 256, 262, 513 S.E.2d 104, 108 (1999) (if *any evidence* exists to support a charge, it should be given, and the trial court commits reversible error if it fails to give a requested charge on an issue raised by the evidence).

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